An fMRI Investigation of Source Memory in Obsessive-Compulsive Disorder

By

Christy Ann Olson

Submitted to the graduate degree program in Psychology and the Graduate Faculty of the University of Kansas in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy.

Chairperson: Nancy Hamilton, Ph.D.

Chairperson: Cary Savage, Ph.D.

Lisa Hale, Ph.D.

Doug Denny, Ph.D.

Alice Lieberman, Ph.D.

Date Defended: July 30, 2013

The Dissertation Committee for Christy Ann Olson certifies that this is the approved version of the following dissertation:

An fMRI Investigation of Source Memory in Obsessive-Compulsive Disorder

Chairperson: Nancy A. Hamilton, Ph.D.

Chairperson: Cary R. Savage, Ph.D.

Date approved: July 30, 2013

#### Abstract

Obsessive-compulsive disorder (OCD) is a serious and debilitating psychiatric disorder that affects 2.2 million Americans (Kessler, Chiu, Demler, & Walters, 2005). Individuals with OCD often complain about poor memory and evidence suggests that individuals with OCD exhibit deficits on a variety of tasks, including those that are unrelated to obsessional concerns. As individuals with OCD tend to focus on details and miss the larger context, the construct of source (contextual) memory may be particularly relevant to memory complaints in OCD. Memory for different types of information (object versus contextual information) may rely on distinct regions within the prefrontal cortex and medial temporal lobe, and may be differentially impacted by obsessive-compulsive symptoms. Using a novel task, 16 individuals with OCD and 17 age, education, and gender matched healthy control group participants (age 18 to 50) studied objects in the context of four rooms. While undergoing functional Magnetic Resonance Imaging (fMRI), participants completed source and object recognition testing. While no significant differences were found between the two groups in terms of behavioral performance, individuals with OCD exhibited greater task related activation in the left medial prefrontal cortex, premotor cortex/ dorsolateral prefrontal cortex, right parietal region, and posterior cingulate cortical areas relative to healthy controls during correct source verses object recognition trials. Results are discussed in terms of compensatory activation and altered activation patterns in individuals with OCD.

iii

## Acknowledgements

This project would not have been possible without the support of many people. I would like to express my gratitude to my mentors Dr. Cary Savage, Dr. Nancy Hamilton, and Dr. Lisa Hale, for their countless hours of guidance and support. To my colleagues, especially Josh Powell and Laura Martin, whose expertise in data analysis has been an invaluable asset to this project. I would also like to thank the staff and Director of the Hoglund Brain Imaging Center who provided resources, time, and support. Thank you also to my committee members, Dr. Doug Denney and Dr. Alice Lieberman for your assistance and contribution to this project. I would like to thank my funding sources, without which this dissertation project would not have been possible: the Hoglund Brain Imaging Center (HBIC) Pilot Research Fund, and the National Institute of Mental Health Ruth L. Kirschstein National Research Service Award (F31 MH090690). I would also like to thank my friends and family, who have supported me throughout this process. Above all, I owe my deepest gratitude to my husband, for his love and support.

# Table of Contents

Abstract	iii
Acknowledgements	iv
Background and Significance	1
OCD and Verbal Memory	
OCD and Nonverbal Memory	
Source Memory	7
The Present Study	
Specific Aims	
Approach to Alternative Outcomes	
Approach to Interpretation of fMRI Data	
Method	
Participants	
Recruitment and Informed Consent	
Procedures	
Memory Items	
Measures	
Scanning Parameters	
fMRI Analysis	
Whole Brain Analyses	
Region of Interest (ROI) Data Analyses	
Results	
Demographic Data	
Behavioral Performance	

fMRI Results	
Discussion	
References	
Tables	
Figures	

# List of Tables

Table 1. Demographics	. 47
Table 2. Behavioral Performance	. 48
Table 3. Regions of Significant activation for Random Effects GLM Contrast of Source Hit	
verses Target Hit, OCD verses HC	. 49

# Table of Figures

Figure 1. Object and source memory fMRI paradigm	.50
Figure 2. Comparison of Source Correct verses Target Hits by OCD verses HC groups	.51
Figure 3. Comparison of Source Correct verses Target Hits by OCD verses HC groups	.52

# An fMRI Investigation of Source Memory in Obsessive-Compulsive Disorder Background and Significance

Obsessive-compulsive disorder (OCD) is a serious and debilitating psychiatric condition that affects 2.2 million Americans (Kessler, et al., 2005). OCD is characterized by recurrent thoughts or images that are experienced as intrusive and inappropriate (obsessions), and/or repetitive behaviors or mental acts meant to prevent an imagined feared outcome or avoid anxiety (compulsions). The content of obsessions can vary widely. Common obsessional concerns include fear of contamination, doubting, sexual or aggressive thoughts or images, and need for symmetry. OCD has a significant impact on quality of life and places tenth in overall global disease burden (combined measure of deaths and disability) as reported by the World Health Organization (Murray & Lopez, 1996).

Individuals with obsessive-compulsive disorder often complain of poor memory and neuropsychological research has demonstrated impairments, particularly in the "meta-cognitive" aspects of memory, such as strategic processing (organization and selecting a strategy in an unstructured task). Past research has revealed subtle differences in how information is acquired, with OCD patients underutilizing organizational strategies during encoding (Deckersbach, Otto, Savage, Baer, & Jenike, 2000; Savage et al., 1999; Savage et al., 2000). Meaningful organization of information is known to enhance encoding and retrieval of new memories, and previous research has shown that individuals with OCD tend to focus on details and miss the larger context. "Source memory" – the ability to identify the specific origin of a learning episode – is another meta-cognitive process that may be particularly relevant to OCD. Individuals with OCD may focus on the details and fail to attend to the larger picture, thus neglecting the context of the learning episode. Poor source memory may contribute to doubt, which is pervasive in OCD. For

example, OCD sufferers may have difficulty distinguishing one checking episode from another, thereby contributing to doubting (e.g., "How do I know I am remembering the most recent time I turned off the stove and not some other time?"). Although many studies have examined memory deficits in OCD, few studies have examined source memory deficits. In the following sections, I will first review past research related to memory and OCD and then discuss the present study which used fMRI to examine source and item memory performance in OCD.

## OCD and Verbal Memory

In general, studies have not found deficits on verbal tasks in individuals with OCD. Results from studies examining verbal working memory as well as declarative verbal memory fail to show impairments in individuals with OCD (Boone, Annanth, Philpott, Kaur, & Djenderedijian, 1991; Christensen, Kim, Dysken, & Hoover, 1992; Jurado, Junque, Vallejo, & Salgado, 2001; Martin, Wiggs, Altemus, Rubenstein, & Murphy, 1995; Zielinski, Taylor, & Juzwin, 1991). However, deficits have been found on tasks that require use of strategic clustering, such as the California Verbal Learning Test (Savage & Rauch, 2000). Meaningful organization of information aids in subsequent recall. For example, organization by semantic category during encoding aids in the recall of verbal information. A study by Savage and colleagues (2000) found that individuals with OCD failed to spontaneously utilize semantic clustering strategies. However, individuals with OCD do not appear to be deficient in their ability to implement such strategies when instructed to do so. Deckersbach et al (2005) found that when individuals with OCD were prompted to use semantic clustering they were able to do so and performed as well as control group participants. In contrast, individuals with bipolar disorder did not show a similar improvement with prompting. This suggests that recall deficits in individuals with OCD do not result from impairment in the capacity to use such strategies, but

rather the impaired ability to *spontaneously* initiate efficient strategies. The fact that individuals with OCD are able to use effective strategies, but fail to do so spontaneously suggests that they may not attend to the organizational demands of a task. This suggests a primary failure of strategic processing.

#### OCD and Nonverbal Memory

In contrast with verbal memory, OCD is more consistently associated with impairments on visuospatial memory tasks. When compared to healthy age and gender-matched adults, individuals with OCD show evidence of impaired visuospatial performance and nonverbal memory on tasks such as the Corsi's Blocks (Zielinski, et al., 1991), the Hooper Visual Organization Test (Boone, et al., 1991), and the Rey-Osterrieth Complex Figure Test (Deckersbach, et al., 2000; Savage et al., 1996). While many studies have reported impairments in nonverbal memory and organization, not all studies have found impairments in individuals with OCD (Basso, Bornstein, Carona, & Morton, 2001; Cohen et al., 1996). Impairments may be more evident on tasks with greater organizational demands, such as the Rey-Osterrieth Complex Figure Test (RCFT). The RCFT requires the participant to copy a complex geometrical figure and then reproduce it immediately after the copy (immediate recall) and then again after 30 minutes (delayed recall). Several studies examining the immediate visual recall rate on this task have found impairments in the performance of individuals with OCD compared to healthy control participants (Boldrini et al., 2005; Deckersbach, et al., 2000; Savage, et al., 1996). The reason for this impairment was suggested by Savage et al. (1999) who found that individuals with OCD showed impairments in the use of organizational strategies when asked to copy the Rey-Osterrieth Figure. For example, individuals with OCD focused on irrelevant details of the figure instead of constructing larger structural elements. Similarly, Deckersbach et al. (2000)

reported that individuals with OCD used a fragmented approach to the reproduction of the figure. Impaired use of organizational strategies were correlated with both impaired immediate and delayed recall of the figure (Deckersbach, et al., 2000; Savage, et al., 1999; Savage & Rauch, 2000) and were found to mediate memory performance deficits in statistical mediation modeling. The failure to spontaneously use strategies efficiently may explain the impaired performance of individuals with OCD on such tasks (Savage, 1997). Individuals with OCD have been found to under-utilize organizational strategies during encoding. Impairments in verbal and nonverbal memory tasks may be mediated by difficulties in spontaneous implementation of organizational strategies (Deckersbach, et al., 2000; Savage, et al., 1999; Savage, et al., 2000).

Research suggests that memory deficits in OCD may reflect a failure to recognize and exploit important organizational elements of the task. Specifically, individuals with OCD fail to recognize that the comprehensive picture (gestalt) is more important than the details (Savage, et al., 1999; Savage, et al., 2000). While individuals with OCD may focus on small details in an attempt to gain "perfect" memory, this approach paradoxically lends itself to neglect of the larger context and, thus, leads to poor recall.

Implementation of strategies may be considered a higher order process. Failure to use effective organizational strategies places a greater load on cognitive resources. Attention to irrelevant material may also burden the ability to successfully encode stimuli into memory. For example, age related changes in memory suggest that inclusion of irrelevant details in a mental image is associated with poor subsequent memory recall. In a study of age related changes in memory, older participants were found to include a greater number of irrelevant details when asked to create a mental image of a word. In contrast, younger adults spontaneously produced more specific and contextual images. Inclusion of irrelevant details predicted poor subsequent

memory recall (Palladino & De Beni, 2003). Individuals with OCD may focus on the details and fail to attend to the larger picture, thus neglecting the context of the learning episode. A study by Sher et al. (1989) found that individuals with OCD use less imagery, especially visual imagery, when recalling biographical information. Results of experimental studies suggest that contextualized images are more memorable compared to non-contextualized images (De Beni & Pazzaglia, 1995). Therefore, failure to connect learning episodes with a larger context, may lead to impairments in memory recall.

Functional neuroimaging studies of individuals with OCD have found evidence of prefrontal dysfunction, especially in orbitofrontal cortex, caudate nucleus, and anterior cingulate cortex (Schwartz, Stoessel, Baxter, Martin, & Phelps, 1996). A study by Savage et al. (2001) of normal memory found that blood flow to orbitofrontal cortex during encoding of word lists predicted spontaneous implementation of semantic clustering during immediate recall. The orbitofrontal cortex is thought to play a role in decision making, motivation, and selecting a strategy in an unstructured setting; this region is likely linked to memory problems in OCD.

Memory deficits in OCD may, therefore, reflect impairments in planning, organization, and the ability to flexibly adapt to stimuli. In addition to the failure to spontaneously implement strategies, individuals with OCD may have difficulty generating alternative strategies following an error. On a computerized version of the Tower of London test of planning, Veale et al. (1996) found that individuals with OCD were no different from healthy control participants in terms of their solutions. However, following a mistake the OCD group participants spent more time than the healthy control group in generating alternative solutions or checking the accuracy of the next move. These results suggest that individuals with OCD have difficulty in selecting alternative strategies, especially following an error.

Past research suggests that individuals with OCD may be able to compensate for less efficient strategies and deficits may only be apparent on more difficult tasks. At least a portion of individuals with OCD use effortful strategies to compensate for tendencies towards less efficient processing. For example, even when no differences are observed in performance accuracy, greater neural activation has been observed in individuals with OCD (Ciesielski, 2005).

In individuals with OCD, deficits in performance may only be apparent on difficult tasks. For example, Purcell et al. (1998) examined spatial working memory in individuals with OCD and matched healthy control group participants using a paradigm with an increasing working memory load. Individuals with OCD performed as well as control group participants at lower levels of task difficulty, however performance dropped significantly at the highest levels of difficulty, compared to the control group participants. Individuals with OCD also failed to use organizational strategies during the more difficult levels of the task compared to the healthy control group. Using functional magnetic resonance imaging, Henseler et al. (2008) examined neural activation underlying working memory performance in individuals with OCD and healthy control group participants. OCD and healthy control group participants who performed normally on a working memory task one month prior to scanning were selected for the study. As expected OCD and healthy control group participants did not differ in terms of memory performance. Individuals with OCD and healthy control participants engaged the same brain regions during the recognition task. However, individuals with OCD exhibited greater task related activity in the frontal and parietal areas suggesting that they may be working harder to perform at the same level as the healthy control group participants. Other studies show similar results. A study by Ciesielski (2005) examined magnetoencephalographic signals (MEG) in individuals with OCD

during the encoding, retention and retrieval phases of a delayed matching to sample working memory task (DMST). No differences were found in terms of performance between the OCD and healthy control group. However, the OCD group exhibited increased activation during encoding in an anterior insular region and reduced activation in the posterior-inferior parietal cortex. During retrieval, increased activation was found in the right anterior insula and right superior sulcus. These results suggest that although performance was maintained, individuals with OCD may differ in terms of the neural activation underlying memory performance. *Source Memory* 

As reviewed previously, research suggests that deficits in implementation of organization strategies mediate memory deficits in OCD (Savage, et al., 1999). However, further investigation is needed to better characterize how individuals with OCD encode and remember information and how differences in memory may contribute to clinical phenomena such as compulsive checking. It may be that individuals with OCD suffer from decreased richness of memory, or a lack of attention to the context of a learning episode (Savage, 2002). In some situations, individuals with OCD lack confidence in their memory, even when accuracy is normal (Hermans et al., 2008). Individuals with OCD may fail to attend to the context of the learning episode and this lack of richness may affect their memory confidence. However, objective deficits in performance may only be apparent on more difficult tasks. Results of experimental studies suggest that contextualized images are more memorable compared to non-contextualized images (De Beni & Pazzaglia, 1995). Therefore, failure to connect learning episodes with a larger context, may lead to impairments in memory recall.

Given findings that individuals with OCD tend to miss the "big picture," source memory may be particularly relevant to OCD. "Source memory" refers to the ability to remember the

specific context of the learning episode. Source memory involves the binding of content with the context, while item memory simply refers to the content. One real world example of source memory is the need to remember where objects are located. The ability to recall where the object was seen involves linking item (object) with source (location). Individuals with OCD may fail to attend to the context and therefore have difficulty integrating information from the learning episode into a coherent whole and in differentiating one learning episode from another. Support for a distinction between source and item memory comes from results of behavioral and neuroimaging studies in healthy and neurologically impaired groups. A study by Koriat, Ben-Zur, and Druch (1991) found that performing an action increases memory for that action (item specific memory) while decreasing memory for the context of the action (source memory). Therefore, it is possible that the act of compulsive checking may increase item specific memory while decreasing source memory. While memory for the action may be intact, low memory confidence may reflect poor memory for the context of the action (i.e., when or where the action occurred). This may partially explain the paradoxical observation that repeated checking diminishes memory confidence in OCD (Radomsky, Gilchrist, & Dussault, 2006; van den Hout & Kindt, 2003).

Support for a distinction between source and item memory also comes from studies of individuals with frontal lobe dysfunction (Glisky, Polster, & Routhuieaux, 1995; Janowsky, Shimamura, & Squire, 1989). For example, a study by Glisky (1995) classified a group of healthy older adults as either high or low functioning based on tests of frontal lobe and temporal lobe functioning. She found that low frontal function was associated with poorer performance on a source memory task, while item memory remained unaffected. The opposite results were found for the group based on classification of high and low temporal functioning. Finally, in an

event-related fMRI study, prefrontal activity was related more to source than item retrieval (Curran, DeBuse, Woroch, & Hirshman, 2006). These studies suggest dissociation between item and source memory. Memory for different types of information (object versus contextual information) may rely on various regions within the prefrontal cortex and medial temporal lobe, and may be differentially impacted by obsessive-compulsive symptoms. Source memory may be impacted to a greater degree compared to item memory. Impairments in source memory may contribute to doubt and low confidence in the accuracy of the memory episode.

The type of source information may also be important. A distinction has been proposed between associative or intrinsic source information and organizational or extrinsic source information. (Baddeley, 1982; Moscovitch, 1992) Associative source information is more closely tied to the stimulus itself (e.g., color of the word or mode of presentation), while extrinsic or organizational source information is independent of the stimulus (e.g., where an object appeared or in what order). Because associative source information is more closely tied to the stimulus it may be less dependent on strategic processing. For example, age related memory deficits are more pronounced on organizational source memory tasks compared to associative source memory tasks (Spencer & Raz, 1995).

A small number of studies have examined associative source memory in OCD, with inconsistent findings. A study by Rubenstein et al. (1993) investigated memory for actions in a group of college students with subclinical checking symptoms and those with no OC symptoms. Participants read statements that described actions that they were instructed to either write down, perform, or observe. Following the first phase of the study participants were asked to write down all the actions they could remember and whether they had performed, observed, or written down the action. Individuals with subclinical checking symptoms had significantly more

difficulty identifying the actions as well as identifying in what form the action took (observed, written, or performed).

A study by Ecker and Engelkamp (1995) found similar results; namely, that individuals with OC checking rituals had greater difficulty distinguishing between performed and imagined actions. Using an event-related potential (ERP) word recognition test, Kim, Roh, Yoo, Kang, and Kwon (2009) also investigated source memory and item memory in individuals with OCD. Fourteen individuals with OCD and fourteen age, gender, and education matched control group participants listened to words spoken by either a male or female voice. Both groups were then presented with a set of words and were asked to identify whether the word was old or new. In addition, participants were asked to identify the source of previously presented words (male or female speaker). No differences were found on item memory; however individuals with OCD performed more poorly compared to the healthy control group on the source memory task. There were no differences between the OCD and control groups with regard to the locations of the event-related brain potential generators elicited by source correct and correct rejection conditions. However, during the source memory task, the control group showed ERP old/new effects at 400-700 ms post stimulus, while the OCD group did not. That is, for the control group, correct recognition of the source of old words elicited higher amplitude at most electrode sites compared to correct rejection of novel words. This effect was not observed in the OCD group. Source localization analysis revealed that both groups engaged the frontal regions during the source memory task. However, individuals with OCD showed significantly altered hemispheric asymmetry of equivalent current dipole power in the frontal lobe during source memory retrieval, compared with the control group participants. The OCD group showed rightward frontal asymmetry in the equivalent current dipole of ERP generators, whereas the healthy

control group participants exhibited leftward frontal asymmetry. The left frontal cortex is known to play a greater role in successful retrieval of contextual information compared to the right frontal cortex. Therefore, this finding may reflect successful retrieval of source information in the healthy control group participants and impaired retrial of source information in individuals with OCD. Results of this study support the hypothesis that individuals with OCD have impairment in source memory, while item memory may be unaffected on some tasks.

However, several other studies have not found significant differences between individuals with OCD and healthy controls on source memory performance (Constans, Foa, Franklin, & Mathews, 1995; McNally & Kohlbeck, 1993; Moritz, Jacobsen, Willenborg, Jelinek, & Fricke, 2006). For example, Constans et al. (1995) examined item (action) and associative source memory (whether the action was performed or imagined) in twelve individuals with OCD and seven age and gender matched controls. Participants were asked to perform a sequence of actions that involved the manipulation of objects. Each action was either real (e.g., "turn off the curling iron") or imagined ("image turning off the curling iron"). Participants were instructed that their memory would be tested following completion of all the actions. Following completion of twenty sequences, participants were asked to indicate whether the last action was imagined or performed. No differences were found in terms of memory for what form the last action took (real or imagined) between the OCD and healthy control group. However, memory for actions prior to the last action was not tested. Furthermore, the task may have not been difficult enough to detect subtle differences in performance. In addition, the small sample size makes interpretation of the null findings difficult. A study by Moritz et al. (2006) also examined source and item memory using an associative source memory task. Twenty-seven individuals with OCD and fifty-one age and education matched healthy control group participants viewed simple word

riddles on the computer. Participants either provided the answer or listened to a computer generated answer (response type was indicated prior to each riddle). Participants then completed an item and source recognition task, during which they indicated whether the word was computer generated, self-generated or new. Individuals with OCD performed more poorly on source memory for words that were self-generated. However, severity of depressive symptoms, but not OCD symptoms, negatively correlated with impaired recognition for self-generated items, suggesting that depressive symptoms may have accounted for differences between the OCD and healthy control group.

While some studies support source memory deficits in OCD, others have not found impairments. Inconsistent findings on source memory tasks might be due to differences in sample size and statistical power, study instructions or task difficulty. Past research has also focused exclusively on associative source memory (i.e., mode of presentation), which may be less sensitive to deficits in strategic processing. Given findings that individuals with OCD neglect the context of the learning episode and use a fragmented approach, impairments are likely to be greater on organizational source memory tasks. This finding would support the theory that impairments are greater for tasks that make greater organizational demands. Based on this logic, the present study focused on organizational source memory.

## The Present Study

Although no neuroimaging studies have examined source memory in individuals with OCD, past research concerning source memory in healthy individuals suggests that greater activation in bilateral medial temporal cortex, anterior hippocampus, parahippocampal gyrus, and left prefrontal cortex is associated with correct recall of source information (Glisky, et al., 1995; Johnson, Kounios, & Nolde, 1997). Considering evidence of prefrontal dysfunction in

OCD, it hypothesized that individuals with OCD will exhibit source memory impairments and such impairments would be associated with decreased activation of the left prefrontal cortex.

Past research has relied heavily on highly structured tasks with explicit instructions. However, memory deficits may be more apparent for unstructured tasks. Past research has also suffered from a lack of ecological validity. Although subtle memory deficits have been reported on tests like the RCFT, it is not clear how deficits in performance observed using abstract neuropsychological tests translate to real life settings. The present study examined performance in the context of a memory test with high ecological validity. The task involved items presented in the context of four different household rooms. This allowed us to test memory for objects as well as memory for source (which room the object was viewed in). Items either matched the context of the room or were out of place. Functional magnetic resonance imaging (fMRI) was used to identify brain networks underlying differences in performance between individuals with OCD and healthy controls during an item and source recognition test.

# Specific Aims

The present study's specific aims were:

Aim 1: Examine whether individuals with OCD differ in their memory for multi-contextual information, including item and source memory.

<u>1.1</u>: It was hypothesized that individuals with OCD would exhibit impairments in performance compared to healthy control group participants on both item and source memory during recognition testing.

Aim 2: Use fMRI to identify brain systems underlying item and source memory in individuals with OCD and healthy control group participants. *A priori* regions of interest include areas believed to be important for item and source memory based on previous research.

2.1: It was hypothesize that the OCD group would show greater activation during correct item responses than the HC group, suggesting that individuals with OCD compensate for tendencies toward less efficient encoding strategies. We predicted increased activation in areas previously implicated in item memory (right prefrontal cortex, and anterior medial temporal lobe). 2.2: Prior memory research suggests that greater activation in the bilateral medial temporal cortex, anterior hippocampus, parahippocampal gyrus, and left prefrontal cortex is associated with correct recall of source information. It was hypothesized that the OCD group would show decreased activation in regions previously implicated in source memory judgments.

## Approach to Alternative Outcomes

The hypotheses proposed study were based on past research. However, possible alternative outcomes were also considered, and included:

#### Behavioral Data:

1) Groups may differ on item (object) memory, but not source memory. This would suggest some memory impairment, but would not support the theory that memory for the context of the learning episode is affected. 2) Groups may differ on source, but not object memory. This would support the theory that memory may be impaired for the context of the learning episode, but that item memory is unaffected. 3) No differences may be found between the two groups on either item or source memory. This would not support the theory that individuals with OCD show impaired behavioral memory performance for objects or the context of the learning episode in an ecologically valid task.

#### fMRI and Behavioral Data:

1) There may be no behavioral difference, but greater brain activation in regions know to be related to object memory in the OCD group compared to the healthy control group. This would

suggest less efficient activation or that the OCD group is working harder to perform at the same level as the control group. 2) Groups may differ behaviorally, but no differences in brain activation may be found. Superior performance would be interpreted in this context as evidence of more efficient neural activation.

# Approach to Interpretation of fMRI Data

Differences in neural activation were interpreted within the context of behavioral performance. It is often difficult to determine whether observed brain activation is the cause or the outcome of the behavior. One way to disentangle these is to examine brain activation differences where no behavioral differences are found. For example, differences in neural activation underlying only correct responses between the OCD and control group were examined in this study.

#### Method

#### *Participants*

Participants were sixteen females with OCD and seventeen healthy control females. Participants were recruited from the Kansas City Center for Anxiety Treatment (KCCAT) and its community contacts, community advertisements, University of Kansas Medical Center advertisements, University of Kansas Lawrence campus advertisements, and the University of Kansas undergraduate research subject pool. Participants were offered \$75 remuneration for their participation in the study. All participants were between 18 and 50 years of age. Groups were matched for age, gender (all female), handedness (all R), education, and general cognitive ability (estimated IQ). Each participant was administered the Mini International Neuropsychiatric Interview (MINI; Sheehan et al., 1998) and the Wechsler Abbreviated Scale of Intelligence Vocabulary and Matrix Reasoning subtests (WASI;Corporation, 1999) by a trained clinician. Participants in the OCD group met criteria for OCD as assessed by the MINI.

Study exclusion criteria included the presence of any other Axis I disorder, neurological illness or injury, current use of antipsychotic or anxiolytic (i.e., benzodiazepam) medication, and history of drug dependence/abuse. Because research suggests that compulsive hoarding may be distinct from OCD in terms of neurobiology and clinical course (Saxena, 2007), individuals with clinically significant compulsive hoarding symptoms, defined according to criteria proposed by Steketee and Frost (Steketee & Frost, 2003), were also excluded. Individuals who were taking antidepressant medication were on a stable dose for at least two months prior to scanning. A study comparing neuropsychological performance between SSRI medicated and un-medicated individuals with OCD found no differences between the two groups on a comprehensive battery of neuropsychological tests (Mataix-Cols, Alonso, Pifarre, Menchon, & Vallejo, 2002); therefore, it was not expected that antidepressant medication would impact performance on this task. Pregnant women and participants with conditions contraindicated or unsuitable for fMRI scanning were excluded. All women of childbearing potential were tested using a urine HCG pregnancy test to rule out possible pregnancy prior to MRI. Participants reporting psychological distress were offered resources and referrals for treatment.

#### Recruitment and Informed Consent

Potential participants were prescreened. Eligible participants were scheduled for an initial assessment at the Kansas City Center for Anxiety Treatment (KCCAT) or the KU Health Psychology Laboratory. Study procedures were explained to potential participants verbally and in writing as part of the informed consent process. The University of Kansas Medical Center

Human Subjects Committee approved all study procedures, and informed written consent was obtained from all study participants.

# Procedures

Following the consent procedure, a trained clinician administered clinical assessments. Severity of obsessive compulsive symptoms were be measured by the Obsessive- Compulsive Inventory-Revised Version (OCI-R; Foa et al., 2002), the Dimensional Obsessive Compulsive Scale (DOCS; (Abramowitz et al., 2010) ) and the Yale- Brown Obsessive- Compulsive Scale (YBOCS; Goodman et al., 1989). Clinical assessments included a set of questionnaires, the WASI Vocabulary and Matrix Reasoning subtests (WASI;Corporation, 1999) and the MINI diagnostic interview (MINI; Sheehan, et al., 1998). Individuals who met study inclusion criteria were scheduled for a second session during which they completed fMRI scans and a source and object memory test at the Hoglund Brain Imaging Center. Participants received \$75 remuneration for completion of the second session. During the second study session, participants were asked to walk through four different rooms (office, living room, bathroom, and kitchen). Individuals were given the following instructions: "I will be showing you a number of rooms, try to remember as much as you can about the things you see. You may walk around inside the room, but do not touch anything. You will have 30 seconds per room."

## Memory Items

Objects were selected that were unique to each context and exemplifiers of each context (e.g., bathroom-toothbrush, living room-coasters, office-stapler). In each condition, 12 objects from each category served as target items and 12 served as distracters. Each room contained six objects that were context congruent and six context incongruent objects. Incongruent objects were selected from the other categories, for example the bathroom always contain six bathroom

objects, two living room objects, two kitchen objects, and two office objects. Both context congruent and incongruent items were used to make source memory judgments more difficult. Objects were rotated and counterbalanced across conditions. Objects were placed where items might reasonably appear. Digital photographs of the rooms for each condition were taken for a visual record of object placement. The order of room presentation was rotated across conditions. Participants were given 30 seconds per room.

#### Preliminary Studies

The object and source memory test was developed and validated with an undergraduate population. During the development phase, a group of college students were asked to name objects that they would commonly expect to see in each room. The most commonly reported objects were obtained and photographed on an all white background for use during the recognition task. This task – the Memory for Rooms Test (MFRT) – was pilot tested in a subclinical high OC group and healthy control population. The Memory for Rooms Test (MFRT) was based on previously published item and source memory paradigms (Dennis, et al., 2008; Mitchell, Raye, Johnson, & Greene, 2006). In a pilot study with a subclinical OC and healthy undergraduate population, the MFRT was found to have good internal reliability (split half reliability, r = .7) and a high level of internal consistency (Cronbach alpha=.8). The MFRT was piloted for adequate difficulty (no floor or ceiling effect). The present study used a revised version of the original MFRT.

#### Measures

*Obsessive Compulsive Inventory-Revised* (OCI-R; Foa, Huppert, Leiberg, Langer, Kichic, Hajcak and Salkovskis, 2002). The OCI-R is an 18 item self-report measure of distress associated with obsessions and compulsions. The OCI-R includes 6 subscales: washing,

checking, ordering, obsessing, neutralizing and hoarding. The OCI-R has good internal consistency and reliability (Foa et al., 2002).

*Yale-Brown Obsessive Compulsive Inventory- Self Report Version* (Y-BOCS; Baer, 1993). The Y-BOCS is a self-report measure of OCD symptoms. The 10-item severity scale yields a total score (0 - 40) based on individual's obsessions and compulsions. The self-report YBOCS has been shown to have good psychometric properties (Steketee, Frost, Bogart, 1996).

*Dimensional Obsessive-Compulsive Scale* (Abramowitz, et al., 2010). The DOCS is a 20-item measure of the severity of obsessive-compulsive symptoms. The DOCS has shown to have good psychometric properties (Abramowitz, et al., 2010).

*Beck Depression Inventory-II* (BDI-II; Beck et al., 1961). The BDI-II consists of 21 items that assess depressive symptoms. Each item is composed of four statements that reflect symptom severity. Individuals rate symptoms on a scale of 0 to 3. Total score ranges from 0 to 63. The BDI-II has adequate internal consistency ( $\alpha$  = .93 among college students,  $\alpha$  = .92 among outpatients; Beck, Steer, Ball, & Ranieri, 1996; Beck et al., 1996).

*Beck Anxiety Inventory* (BAI; Beck, A., Epstein, N., Brown, G., & Steer, R., 1988). The BAI consists of 21 items that assess subjective, somatic or panic symptoms of anxiety. Individuals rate symptoms on a scale of 0 to 3. The BAI has been shown to have good psychometric properties (Beck et al., 1988).

*The Wechsler Abbreviated Scale of Intelligence* (WASI;Corporation, 1999). The WAIS has demonstrated good psychometric properties. The vocabulary and matrix reasoning subscales have demonstrated good internal consistency and reliability, r= 0.88 to 0.98, and convergent validity with the WAIS-III.

*The Mini-International Neuropsychiatric Interview* (MINI; Sheehan et al, 1998). The MINI is a brief diagnostic interview used to make diagnoses according to DSM-IV criteria for Axis I disorders. The MINI is highly correlated with the SCID-IV (Sheehan et al, 1998). *fMRI Paradigm* 

The fMRI paradigm was based on studies previously conducted at Hoglund Brain Imaging Center as well as previously published studies from other groups (Chua, Schacter, Rand-Giovannetti, & Sperling, 2006). Following the encoding period, participants completed a recognition test in the scanner during which they made both item recognition and source memory judgments. Participants were presented with ninety-six pictures (48 target items and 48 distracters) and were asked to identify whether the object was old or new. Recognition stimuli (item and source) were presented for 4.5 second each and followed by .5 seconds of fixation, which was then be followed by a variable duration of fixation (0 to 18 seconds) in order to appropriately "jitter" the data to allow deconvolution of the hemodynamic response. During the fixation baseline, participants focused on a fixation cross (+). Fixation duration was optimized by the RFSgen program from AFNI (Cox, 1996). If an object was identified as old, a second screen appeared (following fixation) and participants were instructed to indicate the location (room) in which the item was learned. If an object was identified as new, the next object appeared on the screen. Participants indicated their choice by pressing the appropriate button on the response box. The order of response options was counterbalanced across participants. Participants were instructed to make their best guess if they were unsure. Old and new items were presented pseudo-randomly, based on design optimization by the RFSgen program from AFNI (Cox, 1996).

# Scanning Parameters

fMRI scanning was performed at the University of Kansas Hoglund Brain Imaging Center (HBIC), using a 3-Tesla head-only Siemens Allegra Scanner (Siemens, Erlangen, Germany) fitted with a quadrature head coil. Structural scanning included T1-weighted anatomical images with 3D SPGR sequence (TR/TE= 23/4ms, flip angel =8°, FOV=256 mm, matrix=256x192, slice thickness=1 mm). This scan was used for slice localization for the functional scans, Talairach transformation, and coregistration with fMRI data. Gradient echo blood oxygen level dependent (BOLD) scans were acquired in 43 contiguous oblique axial 3 mm slices at a 40° angle (TR= 2500 ms, TE= 30ms, flip angle = 90°, in-plane resolution=3mm). Visual stimuli were back-projected to a screen from a shielded LCD projector. Participants viewed the stimuli via a mirror that reflected the images on a screen.

*Methods to minimize susceptibility artifact*: To optimize signal in ventromedial prefrontal regions by minimizing susceptibility artifact, all participants were positioned in the scanner so that the angle of the AC-PC plane is between 17° and 22° in scanner coordinate space. The angle was verified with a localization scan. This careful positioning ensured that the 40° slice acquisition angle was applied in the same way for all participants. These procedures were developed in collaboration with the HBIC MR physicist, Dr. Phil Lee.

#### fMRI Analysis

*Data Analysis:* Item and source memory performance data in the scanner were analyzed in SPSS using independent t-tests. fMRI data were analyzed using the Brain Voyager QX (version 2.4.2) statistical package and random effects (Brain Innovation, Maastricht, Netherlands, 2004). Following standard preprocessing steps, functional images were realigned to the anatomic images obtained within each session and normalized to Talairach space (Talairach, 1988).

Motion in any run of more than 3 mm along any axis (x, y, or z) resulted in the discard of that run. Out of 134 runs, two were discarded due to motion. Activation maps were generated using statistical parametric methods and random effects contained within the Brain Voyager QX software (version 2.4.2). Statistical parametric maps were overlaid on 3-D renderings of average structural scans. Statistical contrasts were conducted using multiple regression analysis within the general linear model. Contrasts between conditions of interest were assessed with *t* statistics across the whole brain. The analysis of interest included the following contrasts: 1) item hits verses correct rejections and 2) source memory hits verses item memory hits. Voxel values were considered significant if the activation survived a statistical cluster-based threshold of p < .01. A family-wise approach was used to correct for multiple comparisons (a < .05; p < .01; k=7 voxels). Computation of the minimum cluster threshold was accomplished via MonteCarlo simulation of the data using a thousand iterations. This method exploits the assumption that areas of activity tend to stimulate signal changes over spatially contiguous groups of voxels rather than over sparsely isolated voxels.

# Whole Brain Analyses

The analysis of interest included the following contrasts: 1) item hits verses correct rejections and 2) source memory hits verses item memory hits. There was adequate power to test these contrasts. There were on average 30 samples to average for each subject in each of these conditions. Two sets of analysis were performed. First, an interaction analysis was performed examining group (OCD, HC) x stimulus type (Target Hit verses Correct Rejection). The regions resulting from this analysis identify brain regions in which the OCD group showed greater activation compared to healthy controls during correct recognition of target objects compared to correct rejection of distracters. Second, to determine whether there were differences between

individuals with OCD and healthy controls during source memory recall, we performed an analysis examining activation during correct source recall compared to object recognition, this time focusing on group (OCD, HC) x stimuli (Source Hit verses Target Hit). The regions resulting from this analysis identify brain regions in which the OCD showed greater activation compared to healthy controls during correct recall of source (the room where the object was encoded) compared to correct recognition of the object.

# Region of Interest (ROI) Data Analyses

Follow-up analyses of ROIs were conducted in regions that achieved statistical significance in the group analyses. Mean percent signal change from baseline for each condition (Target Hits, Correct Rejection, and Source Hits) in the maximum voxel within each region for each individual was exported to Microsoft Excel for Mac 2008 (Microsoft Corporation).

#### Results

#### Demographic Data

Demographic data for the OCD and healthy control group are shown in Table 1. There were no significant differences between the OCD and healthy control group in terms of age, education, or general cognitive ability (all p's > .05). In terms of racial or ethnic background, the study sample was 87.9% Caucasian, 3% African American, and 9.1% Hispanic. Regarding medication use, 27% (n = 9) of participants (in the OCD group) reported taking anti-depressant medication, specifically a selective serotonin reuptake inhibitor (SSRI). No other psychoactive medications were allowed. Participants with OCD reported a moderate level of OC symptoms (*Mean YBOCS* = 18.9, SD = 3.6), compared to the healthy participants, who reported minimal symptoms, (Mean YBOCS= .89, SD= 1.4). Compared to the control group, participants with

OCD reported significantly higher levels of OC symptoms, F(1,56) = 49.45, p < .01, anxiety, F(1,56) = 44.50, p < .01, and depressive symptoms F(1,56) = 48.45, p < .01.

## Behavioral Performance

Accuracy and reaction time results are shown in table 2. For each subject, all runs for the task were combined for analysis of behavioral responses. Each target response was classified as either a target hit or a target miss. Each distracter recognition response was classified as either a correct rejection or a false alarm. Overall memory descriminability index was calculated as: (Target-Hits – False Alarms)/ Total Number of Items. Each source response was classified as either source correct or source incorrect, and source accuracy was calculated based on the proportion of objects correctly recognized as old that were attributed to the correct source. There were no significant differences in behavioral performance between the OCD and healthy control groups on target (t= 1.2, p=.26), distracter (t= -2.39, p = .81), or source memory accuracy (t= -72, p= .43). In addition, no significant differences were observed in terms of reaction time (all p's > .05), respectively.

# fMRI Results

# Contrast 1: Target-Hits verses Correct Rejections

First, we sought to determine whether there were between group differences in terms of neural activation related to object memory performance. An interaction analysis was performed examining group (OCD, HC) x stimulus type (Target Hit verses Correct Rejection). The regions resulting from this analysis identify brain regions in which the OCD group showed greater activation compared to healthy controls during correct recognition of target objects compared to correct rejection of distracters. Comparison between the OCD and healthy control group revealed no regions of significant difference. When each group was examined separately,

significant activation was observed in regions previously implicated in object memory in both groups, including the left prefrontal cortex, medial temporal lobe, and parietal cortex. Additionally, examining these maps indicated a large degree of overlap between the OCD and HC group.

## Contrast 2: Source Correct verses Target Hits

Second, to determine whether there were differences between individuals with OCD and healthy controls during source memory recall, we performed an analysis examining activation during correct source recall compared to object recognition, this time focusing on group (OCD, HC) x stimuli (Source Hit verses Target Hit). The regions resulting from this analysis identify brain regions in which the OCD showed greater activation compared to the healthy controls during correct recall of source verses correct recognition of the object. Statistically significant differences were observed between the OCD and HC groups (see Table 3). Specifically, the OCD group exhibited greater source memory verses item memory effects in the left medial PFC, right premotor cortex/dorsolateral PFC, posterior bilateral cingulate cortices, and right parietal cortex, when compared to the control group. Conversely, the HC group did not show significantly greater brain activation during source memory performance compared to item memory, in any brain region, compared to individuals with OCD. These relationships are depicted in figure 2 and 3.

# ROI Analysis

Based on the results of the whole brain analysis, regions of activation in the left medial PFC, premotor cortex/dorsolateral prefrontal cortex, posterior bilateral cingulate cortices, and right parietal were selected and percent signal change from baseline was calculated for each condition (Target Hits and Source Correct).

The OCD group exhibited greater source verses item memory effects in the left medial PFC (x, y, z = -10, 46, 15) when compared to the control group. Further examination of the data revealed that in left medial PFC this significant interaction was driven by a greater decrease in activation in the OCD group during correct recognition of targets compared to the HC group.

Greater source memory verses item memory effects were also observed for the OCD group compared to the HC group in the right premotor cortex/dorsolateral PFC (x, y, z = 32, 4, 36). Examination of these data revealed, that this significant interaction was driven by the HC group compared to the OCD group exhibiting increased activation during correct recognition of targets. The HC also exhibited greater activation during target correct verses source correct trials, while no differences between target correct and source correct trials were observed for the OCD group. Thus, the HC group exhibited greater target correct effects in this region.

Next, individuals with OCD exhibited greater source memory verses item memory effects in posterior bilateral cingulate cortices when compared to the control group. Based on whole brain analysis, percent signal change in the posterior bilateral cingulate cortices (x, y, z = 5, -47, 24; x, y, z = -13, -44, 27), for source correct and target hit trials verses baseline was calculated (See Figure 3). Examination of these data revealed that the significant interaction was driven by increased activation in the bilateral cortices in the OCD group compared to the HC during source correct. In the bilateral posterior cingulated cortices, the OCD group exhibited increased activation compared to the HC for source correct. The OCD group exhibited deactivation in the right cingulate cortex region during correct object recognition, while the HC exhibited deactivation during both correct target and source recall. In the left posterior cingulate, the OCD group exhibited increased activation for source recognition, and deactivation during object recognition. The HC group exhibited the opposite pattern, with increased activation for object recognition, and decreased activation during source recall. Thus, the OCD group exhibited greater source memory effects in the bilateral posterior cingulate cortices, while the HC group exhibited greater object memory effects in left posterior cingulate cortex region.

Finally, the OCD group exhibited greater source memory verses item memory effects in the right parietal lobe (x, y, z = 29, -65, 39) when compared to the control group. Examination of these data revealed that the significant interaction was driven by increased activation during object recognition in the HC group compared to the OCD group. Examination of percent signal change data for the right parietal lobe revealed greater activation during target correct responses compared to source correct for the HC group compared to the OCD group, which exhibited the greater activation for source correct verses target correct. Thus, the HC engaged this region to a greater extent during correct object recognition.

#### Discussion

In this study we sought to examine object and source memory in individuals with OCD using an ecologically valid paradigm. Contrary to our hypotheses, no differences were observed between the OCD and CNT group in terms of behavioral performance. These results are consistent with some past studies (Constans, et al., 1995; McNally & Kohlbeck, 1993; Moritz, et al., 2006). Results of this study do not support the theory that individuals with OCD exhibit behavioral impairments in object and source memory on an ecologically valid task. While no significant differences were found between the two groups in terms of behavioral performance, individuals with OCD exhibited different patterns of task related activation in the left medial prefrontal, right premotor cortex/dorsolateral PFC, parietal lobe, and posterior cingulate cortical areas relative to healthy controls during correct source memory recognition verses object recognition. Thus, even when no differences in behavioral performance were observed,

differences were found in brain regions supporting task performance. The absence of performance differences is advantageous in terms of simplifying interpretation of the neuroimaging results, because differences in the observed neural correlates of memory between the two groups cannot be attributed to differences in overall performance (Morcom, Li, & Rugg, 2007). The medial prefrontal, dorsolateral prefrontal cortex, parietal lobe, and posterior cingulate cortical areas have been implicated in memory (Fan, Gay Snodgrass, & Bilder, 2003; Suzuki & Amaral, 1994), as well as neurobiological processes underlying OCD (Busatto et al., 2000; Friedlander & Desrocher, 2006; Rauch, Dougherty, et al., 2001; Rauch, Makris, et al., 2001). *Medial Prefrontal Cortex* 

The OCD and HC groups exhibited differential activation in the medial prefrontal cortex during correct source verses object recognition. Examination of differences in the left medial PFC, revealed a greater reduction in activation in the OCD group during correct object recognition (vs. source judgments) compared to the HC group, suggesting that the OCD group exhibited a greater reduction in activation in this region during object recognition compared to the control group. The medial prefrontal cortex serves executive functions that are essential for behavioral flexibility, action monitoring, and behavioral control (Passetti, Chudasama, & Robbins, 2002). Prefrontal cortex dysfunction has been identified as a key neurobiological correlate of cognitive inflexibility and behavioral disinhibition associated with neuropsychiatric disorders such as obsessive-compulsive disorder. The important role of the medial PFC in top-down cognitive control mechanisms is particularly well documented (Narayanan & Laubach, 2006; Passetti, et al., 2002). A greater reduction in activation in this region, may suggest diminished flexibility and action monitoring. The findings of the present study are consistent with a previous study that found decreased medial PFC activation in individuals with OCD, and

their unaffected relatives compared to healthy control subjects during a working memory task, despite no differences in behavioral performance (Chamberlain et al., 2008). The findings of decreased activation in the medial PFC observed in this study suggest that OCD disrupts of the engagement of regions that support behavioral control and cognitive flexibility.

#### Premotor/Dorsolateral Prefrontal Cortex

The HC group exhibited greater activation in a brain region including both premotor cortex and dorsolateral prefrontal cortex (DLPFC) during correct object recognition compared to the OCD group, suggesting that the HC group engaged this region to a greater extent during object recognition compared to the OCD group. The DLPFC is involved in motor planning, working memory, and anticipating actions. The present study found reduced activation in this region during correct object recognition in individuals with OCD compared to the HC group, which may reflect greater action planning in the healthy control group compared to the OCD group during object recognition. This finding is consistent with previous studies that found decreased DLPFC activation associated with impaired planning capacity in OCD patients (Schlosser et al., 2010; van den Heuvel et al., 2005). Past studies have also reported decreased activation in premotor regions in individuals with OCD (den Braber et al., 2010). For example, a study examining brain activation during the Tower of London planning paradigm in twins concordant and discordant for OC symptoms (den Braber, et al., 2010), observed reduced activation in the premotor cortex for the high OC symptom group, despite intact behavioral performance.

#### Posterior Cingulate Cortex

The OCD group exhibited greater source memory effects in the posterior bilateral cingulate cortices compared to the healthy control group. The posterior cingulate cortex plays a

key role in memory, as it has particularly strong reciprocal connections with medial temporal lobe memory structures, including the entorhinal and parahippocampal cortices (Morris, Pandya, & Petrides, 1999; Suzuki & Amaral, 1994). Previous imaging studies have found the posterior cingulate cortex to be activated during naturally acquired autobiographical memory retrieval (Andreasen et al., 1995; Maddock, Garrett, & Buonocore, 2001). Although neurobiological models of OCD have emphasized the role of orbitofrontal cortex, anterior cingulate cortex, and the caudate nucleus, several functional imaging studies have also pointed to a role for posterior cingulate cortex in OCD (Busatto, et al., 2000; Rauch, Dougherty, et al., 2001; Rauch, Makris, et al., 2001). For example, a study examining preoperative predictors of treatment for OCD patients undergoing an anterior cingulotomy found that preoperative glucose metabolic rates in the right posterior cingulate cortex significantly correlated with subsequent reduction in OCD symptom severity following anterior cingulotomy (Rauch, Dougherty, et al., 2001). A positive correlation between regional cerebral blood flow in the posterior cingulate cortex and subsequent symptomatic improvement following treatment with serotonergic reuptake inhibitor (SRIs) treatment has also been reported (Rauch et al., 2002). In the present study, increased activation was observed in the bilateral posterior cingulated cortices. This "hyperactivation" may be a compensatory, and adaptive response during source recognition (e.g., Cabeza, Anderson, Locantore, & McIntosh, 2002; Cabeza et al., 1997; Park et al., 2004), since behavioral performance was maintained.

Deactivation exhibited by the HC group in the bilateral posterior cingulate cortices during source recognition may reflect the active suppression of processing that would otherwise interfere with or divert resources from successful retrieval. If OCD impairs inhibition, as has been proposed, lack of inhibition may reflect lack of suppression of irrelevant details of the

learning episode or failure of inhibition in individuals with OCD. Further data are needed to test this possibility. It is also be possible to account for some of the group differences in terms of differences in the cognitive strategies and operations employed by individuals with OCD and HC participants during memory retrieval.

## Parietal Cortex

Differences between the OCD group and HC were also observed in the parietal cortex. Specifically, the HC group exhibited greater activation for target correct compared to the OCD group. The parietal cortex is one of the regions most frequently activated during episodic retrieval (Cabeza & Nyberg, 2000). Several studies found that certain parietal regions, specifically the superior parietal region, show greater activity for recollection than for familiarity (Eldridge, Knowlton, Furmanski, Bookheimer, & Engel, 2000; Henson, Rugg, Shallice, Josephs, & Dolan, 1999). This region is thought to be involved in the voluntary allocation of attention, and is associated with top-down (attention guided by goals) processes supporting retrieval search, monitoring and verification. As such, dysfunction related to this region does not always translate in deficits in behavioral performance. Past studies examining object and source performance in individuals with parietal lesions, revealed intact object and source memory. However, subjects with parietal lesions reported decreased vividness and lack of confidence in their memory, despite intact behavioral performance (Davidson et al., 2008). The present study found reduced activation in this region during correct object recognition in individuals with OCD compared to controls, which may reflect greater attention driven recollection in the healthy control group compared to the OCD group. The finding of reduced activation is consistent with other studies, including findings from a study examining brain activation during the Tower of London planning paradigm in twins concordant and discordant for OC symptoms (den Braber, et

al., 2010), which observed reduced activation in this region for the high OC symptom group, despite intact behavioral performance.

#### Strengths/Limitations and Future Directions

Strengths of the study include the exclusion of individuals with OCD who met criteria for other axis I disorders. Groups were also carefully matched in terms of gender, age, education, handedness (all right), and general cognitive ability. The absence of performance differences is advantageous in terms of simplifying interpretation of the neuroimaging results, because differences in the observed neural correlates of memory between the two groups cannot be attributed to differences in overall performance (Morcom, et al., 2007). Some limitations of the study include, the limited sample size, and exclusion of males. Gender differences in object and source memory have been reported in previous studies (De Goede & Postma, 2008; Lejbak, Vrbancic, & Crossley, 2009; Voyer, Postma, Brake, & Imperato-McGinley, 2007; Wang & Fu, 2010). Because past studies suggest that males and females process context information differently (Piefke & Fink, 2005), collapsing males and females into statistical comparison may bias fMRI results. Future studies may examine gender differences in neural correlates of memory between male and females with OCD. A further limitation includes the inclusion of individuals with OCD who were taking an SSRI medication. It should be noted that individuals who were taking antidepressant medication were on a stable dose for at least two months prior to scanning. While it is possible that antidepressant medication may impact the findings of this study, a study comparing neuropsychological performance between SSRI medicated and unmedicated individuals with OCD found no differences between the two groups on a comprehensive battery of neuropsychological tests (Mataix-Cols, et al., 2002). Additionally, a study examining the effects of an SSRI (escitalopram) found no significant effects on

performance or the hemodynamic response during working memory tasks. (Rose, Simonotto, Spencer, & Ebmeier, 2006). Therefore, it is not likely the observed differences between the two groups were due to medication effects.

Another possible limitation of the study is that the OCD group included individuals with mixed symptom types. It is possible that impairments may be specific to symptom type. For example, some studies suggest that OCD impairments may be more consistent in patients with primarily checking concerns (Omori et al., 2007). Future studies may investigate neural correlates of memory in more homogenous subgroups of individuals with OCD.

# Conclusions

Results of this study suggest that despite no differences in terms of behavioral performance, individuals with OCD exhibited different patterns of task related brain activation. While the level of performance was matched between individuals with OCD and healthy controls, the groups differentially recruited several brain regions to support source recognition. Differences between the OCD and HC groups emerged in brain regions known to play a role in planning, anticipating actions, and cognitive flexibility, such as the DLPFC and MPFC, as well as brain regions related to episodic retrieval, such as the bilateral cingulate cortices, and regions involved in top down processes supporting retrieval (attention guided by goals), such as the parietal cortex.

The findings of decreased activation in the medial PFC observed in this study suggest that OCD may disrupt the engagement of regions that support behavioral control and cognitive flexibility. Decreased DLPFC activation observed in the OCD group during object recognition may reflect impaired motor planning, a finding that is consistent with past research suggesting impaired planning capacity in OCD patients (Schlosser, et al., 2010; van den Heuvel, et al.,

2005). Increased activation in the parietal region during correct object recognition in healthy individuals compared to the individuals with OCD observed in this study, may reflect greater attention driven recollection in the healthy control group compared to the OCD group. Failure to modulate the bilateral cingulate cortices was also observed in the OCD group, which may reflect a compensatory, and adaptive response in the OCD group during source memory recognition.

In some situations, individuals with OCD lack confidence in their memory, even when accuracy is normal (Hermans, et al., 2008). Results of this study suggest that even when behavioral performance is unaffected, differences exist in terms of the underlying neural correlates related to memory in OCD. Future studies should examine how these differences relate to memory confidence and doubt. Increased understanding of the role of neural processes related to memory and cognitive processing in OCD may lead to increased understanding of this debilitating disorder, and more targeted interventions.

#### References

- Abramowitz, J. S., Deacon, B. J., Olatunji, B. O., Wheaton, M. G., Berman, N. C., Losardo, D., et al. (2010). Assessment of obsessive-compulsive symptom dimensions: development and evaluation of the Dimensional Obsessive-Compulsive Scale. [Evaluation Studies]. *Psychological assessment, 22*(1), 180-198.
- Andreasen, N. C., O'Leary, D. S., Cizadlo, T., Arndt, S., Rezai, K., Watkins, G. L., et al. (1995). Remembering the past: two facets of episodic memory explored with positron emission tomography. [Research Support, Non-U.S. Gov't
- Research Support, U.S. Gov't, P.H.S.]. Am J Psychiatry, 152(11), 1576-1585.
- Baddeley, A. D. (1982). Implications of neuropsychological evidence for theories of normal memory. *Philos Trans R Soc Lond B Biol Sci, 298*(1089), 59-72.
- Basso, M. R., Bornstein, R. A., Carona, F., & Morton, R. (2001). Depression accounts for executive function deficits in obsessive-compulsive disorder. *Neuropsychiatry Neuropsychol Behav Neurol*, 14(4), 241-245.
- Boldrini, M., Del Pace, L., Placidi, G. P., Keilp, J., Ellis, S. P., Signori, S., et al. (2005).
  Selective cognitive deficits in obsessive-compulsive disorder compared to panic disorder with agoraphobia. *Acta Psychiatr Scand*, 111(2), 150-158.
- Boone, K. B., Annanth, J., Philpott, L., Kaur, A., & Djenderedijian, A. (1991).
   Neuropsychological characteristics of nondepressed adults with obsessive-compulsive disorder. *Neuropsychiatry, Neuropsychology and Behavioral Neurology, 4*, 96-109.
- Busatto, G. F., Zamignani, D. R., Buchpiguel, C. A., Garrido, G. E., Glabus, M. F., Rocha, E. T., et al. (2000). A voxel-based investigation of regional cerebral blood flow abnormalities in

obsessive-compulsive disorder using single photon emission computed tomography (SPECT). [Research Support, Non-U.S. Gov't]. *Psychiatry Res, 99*(1), 15-27.

- Cabeza, R., Anderson, N. D., Locantore, J. K., & McIntosh, A. R. (2002). Aging gracefully: compensatory brain activity in high-performing older adults. [Research Support, Non-U.S. Gov't]. *Neuroimage*, 17(3), 1394-1402.
- Cabeza, R., Grady, C. L., Nyberg, L., McIntosh, A. R., Tulving, E., Kapur, S., et al. (1997). Agerelated differences in neural activity during memory encoding and retrieval: a positron emission tomography study. [Comparative Study
- Research Support, Non-U.S. Gov't]. *The Journal of neuroscience : the official journal of the Society for Neuroscience, 17*(1), 391-400.
- Cabeza, R., & Nyberg, L. (2000). Imaging cognition II: An empirical review of 275 PET and fMRI studies. [Review]. *Journal of Cognitive Neuroscience*, *12*(1), 1-47.
- Chamberlain, S. R., Menzies, L., Hampshire, A., Suckling, J., Fineberg, N. A., del Campo, N., et al. (2008). Orbitofrontal dysfunction in patients with obsessive-compulsive disorder and their unaffected relatives. [Research Support, N.I.H., Extramural

Research Support, Non-U.S. Gov't]. Science, 321(5887), 421-422.

- Christensen, K. J., Kim, S. W., Dysken, M. W., & Hoover, K. M. (1992). Neuropsychological performance in obsessive-compulsive disorder. *Biol Psychiatry*, *31*(1), 4-18.
- Chua, E. F., Schacter, D. L., Rand-Giovannetti, E., & Sperling, R. A. (2006). Understanding metamemory: neural correlates of the cognitive process and subjective level of confidence in recognition memory. *Neuroimage*, 29(4), 1150-1160.

- Ciesielski, K. T., Hamalainen, M. S., Lesnik, P. G., Geller, D. A., & Ahlfors, S. P. (2005). Increased MEG activation in OCD reflects a compensatory mechanism specific to the phase of a visual working memory task. *Neuroimage*, 24(4), 1180-1191.
- Cohen, L. J., Hollander, E., DeCaria, C. M., Stein, D. J., Simeon, D., Liebowitz, M. R., et al. (1996). Specificity of neuropsychological impairment in obsessive-compulsive disorder: a comparison with social phobic and normal control subjects. *J Neuropsychiatry Clin Neurosci, 8*(1), 82-85.
- Constans, J. I., Foa, E. B., Franklin, M. E., & Mathews, A. (1995). Memory for actual and imagined events in OC checkers. *Behav Res Ther*, *33*(6), 665-671.
- Corporation, T. P. (1999). *Wechsler Abbreviated Scale of Intelligence (WASI) Manual*. San Antonia, TX: The Psychological Corporation.
- Cox, R. W. (1996). AFNI: software for analysis and visualization of functional magnetic resonance neuroimages. *Comput Biomed Res*, 29(3), 162-173.
- Curran, T., DeBuse, C., Woroch, B., & Hirshman, E. (2006). Combined pharmacological and electrophysiological dissociation of familiarity and recollection. *J Neurosci, 26*(7), 1979-1985.
- Davidson, P. S., Anaki, D., Ciaramelli, E., Cohn, M., Kim, A. S., Murphy, K. J., et al. (2008).Does lateral parietal cortex support episodic memory? Evidence from focal lesion patients. [Comparative Study

Research Support, N.I.H., Extramural

Research Support, Non-U.S. Gov't]. Neuropsychologia, 46(7), 1743-1755.

De Beni, R., & Pazzaglia, F. (1995). Memory for different kinds of mental images: role of contextual and autobiographic variables. *Neuropsychologia*, *33*(11), 1359-1371.

De Goede, M., & Postma, A. (2008). Gender differences in memory for objects and their locations: a study on automatic versus controlled encoding and retrieval contexts. [Comparative Study

Research Support, Non-U.S. Gov't]. Brain and cognition, 66(3), 232-242.

- Deckersbach, T., Otto, M. W., Savage, C. R., Baer, L., & Jenike, M. A. (2000). The relationship between semantic organization and memory in obsessive-compulsive disorder. *Psychotherapy and Psychosomatics*, 69(2), 101-107.
- Deckersbach, T., Savage, C. R., Dougherty, D. D., Bohne, A., Loh, R., Nierenberg, A., et al. (2005). Spontaneous and directed application of verbal learning strategies in bipolar disorder and obsessive compulsive disorder. *Bipolar Disorder*, 7, 166-175.
- den Braber, A., van 't Ent, D., Cath, D. C., Wagner, J., Boomsma, D. I., & de Geus, E. J. (2010).
   Brain activation during cognitive planning in twins discordant or concordant for obsessive-compulsive symptoms. [Research Support, Non-U.S. Gov't

Twin Study]. Brain : a journal of neurology, 133(10), 3123-3140.

- Ecker, W., & Engelkamp, J. (1995). Memory for actions in obsessive-compulsive disorder. Behavioural and Cognitive Psychotherapy, 23(4), 349-371.
- Eldridge, L. L., Knowlton, B. J., Furmanski, C. S., Bookheimer, S. Y., & Engel, S. A. (2000). Remembering episodes: a selective role for the hippocampus during retrieval. [Research Support, Non-U.S. Gov't

Research Support, U.S. Gov't, Non-P.H.S.]. Nature neuroscience, 3(11), 1149-1152.

Fan, J., Gay Snodgrass, J., & Bilder, R. M. (2003). Functional magnetic resonance imaging of source versus item memory. [Comparative Study]. *Neuroreport*, 14(17), 2275-2281.

- Foa, E. B., Huppert, J. D., Leiberg, S., Langner, R., Kichic, R., Hajcak, G., et al. (2002). The Obsessive-Compulsive Inventory: development and validation of a short version. *Psychol Assess, 14*(4), 485-496.
- Friedlander, L., & Desrocher, M. (2006). Neuroimaging studies of obsessive-compulsive disorder in adults and children. [Review]. *Clinical psychology review*, *26*(1), 32-49.
- Glisky, E. L., Polster, M. R., & Routhuieaux, B. C. (1995). Double dissociation between item and source memory. *Neuropsychology*, *9*, 229-235.
- Goodman, W. K., Price, L. H., Rasmussen, S. A., Mazure, C., Fleischmann, R. L., Hill, C. L., et al. (1989). The Yale-Brown Obsessive Compulsive Scale. I. Development, use, and reliability. *Arch Gen Psychiatry*, 46(11), 1006-1011.
- Henseler, I., Gruber, O., Kraft, S., Krick, C., Reith, W., & Falkai, P. (2008). Compensatory hyperactivations as markers of latent working memory dysfunctions in patients with obsessive-compulsive disorder: an fMRI study. *J Psychiatry Neurosci*, 33(3), 209-215.
- Henson, R. N., Rugg, M. D., Shallice, T., Josephs, O., & Dolan, R. J. (1999). Recollection and familiarity in recognition memory: an event-related functional magnetic resonance imaging study. [Clinical Trial
- Research Support, Non-U.S. Gov't]. *The Journal of neuroscience : the official journal of the Society for Neuroscience, 19*(10), 3962-3972.
- Hermans, D., Engelen, U., Grouwels, L., Joos, E., Lemmens, J., & Pieters, G. (2008). Cognitive confidence in obsessive-compulsive disorder: distrusting perception, attention and memory. *Behav Res Ther*, 46(1), 98-113.
- Janowsky, J. S., Shimamura, A. P., & Squire, L. R. (1989). Source memory impairment in patients with frontal lobe lesions. *Neuropsychologia*, *27*(8), 1043-1056.

- Johnson, M. K., Kounios, J., & Nolde, S. F. (1997). Electrophysiological brain activity and memory source monitoring. *Neuroreport*, 8(5), 1317-1320.
- Jurado, M. A., Junque, C., Vallejo, J., & Salgado, P. (2001). Impairment of incidental memory for frequency in patients with obsessive-compulsive disorder. *Psychiatry Res, 104*(3), 213-220.
- Kessler, R. C., Chiu, W. T., Demler, O., & Walters, E. E. (2005). Prevalence, severity, and comorbidity of twelve-month DSM-IV disorders in the National Comorbidity Survey Replication (NCS-R). *Archives of General Psychiatry*, 62(6), 617-627.
- Kim, Y. Y., Roh, A. Y., Yoo, S. Y., Kang, D. H., & Kwon, J. S. (2009). Impairment of source memory in patients with obsessive-compulsive disorder: equivalent current dipole analysis. *Psychiatry Res*, 165(1-2), 47-59.
- Koriat, A., Ben-Zur, H., & Druch, A. (1991). The contextualization of input and output events in memory. *Psychological Resarch*, 53, 260-270.
- Lejbak, L., Vrbancic, M., & Crossley, M. (2009). The female advantage in object location memory is robust to verbalizability and mode of presentation of test stimuli. *Brain and cognition*, *69*(1), 148-153.
- Maddock, R. J., Garrett, A. S., & Buonocore, M. H. (2001). Remembering familiar people: the posterior cingulate cortex and autobiographical memory retrieval. *Neuroscience*, 104(3), 667-676.
- Martin, A., Wiggs, C. L., Altemus, M., Rubenstein, C., & Murphy, D. L. (1995). Working memory as assessed by subject-ordered tasks in patients with obsessive-compulsive disorder. *J Clin Exp Neuropsychol*, 17(5), 786-792.

- Mataix-Cols, D., Alonso, P., Pifarre, J., Menchon, J. M., & Vallejo, J. (2002). Neuropsychological performance in medicated vs. unmedicated patients with obsessivecompulsive disorder. *Psychiatry Res*, 109(3), 255-264.
- McNally, R. J., & Kohlbeck, P. A. (1993). Reality monitoring in obsessive-compulsive disorder. Behav Res Ther, 31(3), 249-253.
- Morcom, A. M., Li, J., & Rugg, M. D. (2007). Age effects on the neural correlates of episodic retrieval: increased cortical recruitment with matched performance. [Research Support, Non-U.S. Gov't]. *Cerebral cortex, 17*(11), 2491-2506.
- Moritz, S., Jacobsen, D., Willenborg, B., Jelinek, L., & Fricke, S. (2006). A check on the memory deficit hypothesis of obsessive-compulsive checking. *Eur Arch Psychiatry Clin Neurosci, 256*(2), 82-86.
- Morris, R., Pandya, D. N., & Petrides, M. (1999). Fiber system linking the mid-dorsolateral frontal cortex with the retrosplenial/presubicular region in the rhesus monkey. [Research Support, Non-U.S. Gov't]. *The Journal of comparative neurology*, *407*(2), 183-192.
- Moscovitch, M. (1992). Memory and working-with-memory: A component process model based on modules and central systems. *Journal of Cognitive Neuroscience*, *4*, 257-267.
- Murray, C. J. L., & Lopez, A. D. (1996). The global burden of disease: a comprehensive assessment of mortality and disability from diseases, injuries, and risk factors in 1990 and projected to 2020. Cambridge, MA: Harvard University Press.
- Narayanan, N. S., & Laubach, M. (2006). Top-down control of motor cortex ensembles by dorsomedial prefrontal cortex. [Research Support, Non-U.S. Gov't]. *Neuron*, 52(5), 921-931.

- Omori, I. M., Murata, Y., Yamanishi, T., Nakaaki, S., Akechi, T., Mikuni, M., et al. (2007). The differential impact of executive attention dysfunction on episodic memory in obsessive-compulsive disorder patients with checking symptoms vs. those with washing symptoms. *Journal of psychiatric research*, *41*(9), 776-784.
- Palladino, P., & De Beni, R. (2003). When mental images are very detailed: image generation and memory performance as a function of age. *Acta Psychol (Amst), 113*(3), 297-314.
- Park, D. C., Polk, T. A., Park, R., Minear, M., Savage, A., & Smith, M. R. (2004). Aging reduces neural specialization in ventral visual cortex. [Research Support, U.S. Gov't, P.H.S.]. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America,* 101(35), 13091-13095.
- Passetti, F., Chudasama, Y., & Robbins, T. W. (2002). The frontal cortex of the rat and visual attentional performance: dissociable functions of distinct medial prefrontal subregions.
  [Research Support, Non-U.S. Gov't]. *Cerebral cortex, 12*(12), 1254-1268.
- Piefke, M., & Fink, G. R. (2005). Recollections of one's own past: the effects of aging and gender on the neural mechanisms of episodic autobiographical memory. [Comparative Study
- Research Support, Non-U.S. Gov't
- Review]. Anatomy and embryology, 210(5-6), 497-512.
- Purcell, R., Maruff, P., Kyrios, M., & Pantelis, C. (1998). Cognitive deficits in obsessivecompulsive disorder on tests of frontal-striatal function. *Biol Psychiatry*, *43*(5), 348-357.
- Radomsky, A. S., Gilchrist, P. T., & Dussault, D. (2006). Repeated checking really does cause memory distrust. *Behav Res Ther*, *44*(2), 305-316.

Rauch, S. L., Dougherty, D. D., Cosgrove, G. R., Cassem, E. H., Alpert, N. M., Price, B. H., et al. (2001). Cerebral metabolic correlates as potential predictors of response to anterior cingulotomy for obsessive compulsive disorder. [Research Support, Non-U.S. Gov't

Research Support, U.S. Gov't, P.H.S.]. Biological psychiatry, 50(9), 659-667.

- Rauch, S. L., Makris, N., Cosgrove, G. R., Kim, H., Cassem, E. H., Price, B. H., et al. (2001). A magnetic resonance imaging study of regional cortical volumes following stereotactic anterior cingulotomy. *CNS spectrums*, 6(3), 214-222.
- Rauch, S. L., Shin, L. M., Dougherty, D. D., Alpert, N. M., Fischman, A. J., & Jenike, M. A. (2002). Predictors of fluvoxamine response in contamination-related obsessive compulsive disorder: a PET symptom provocation study. [Research Support, Non-U.S. Gov't
- Research Support, U.S. Gov't, P.H.S.]. *Neuropsychopharmacology : official publication of the American College of Neuropsychopharmacology, 27*(5), 782-791.
- Rose, E. J., Simonotto, E., Spencer, E. P., & Ebmeier, K. P. (2006). The effects of escitalopram on working memory and brain activity in healthy adults during performance of the n-back task. [Clinical Trial
- Research Support, Non-U.S. Gov't]. Psychopharmacology, 185(3), 339-347.
- Rubenstein, C. S., Peynirdoglu, Z. F., Chambless, D. L., & Pigott, T. A. (1993). Memory in subclinical obsessive-compulsive checkers. *Behav Res Ther*, 31, 759-765.
- Savage, C. R. (1997). Neuropsychology of subcortical dementias. *Psychiatr Clin North Am*, 20(4), 911-931.
- Savage, C. R. (Ed.). (2002). The role of emotion in strategic behavior: Insights from Psychopathology New York: Guilford Press.

- Savage, C. R., Baer, L., Keuthen, N. J., Brown, H. D., Rauch, S. L., & Jenike, M. A. (1999). Organizational strategies mediate nonverbal memory impairment in obsessivecompulsive disorder. *Biol Psychiatry*, 45(7), 905-916.
- Savage, C. R., Deckersbach, T., Heckers, S., Wagner, A. D., Schacter, D. L., Alpert, N. M., et al. (2001). Prefrontal regions supporting spontaneous and directed application of verbal learning strategies: evidence from PET. *Brain*, *124*(Pt 1), 219-231.
- Savage, C. R., Deckersbach, T., Wilhelm, S., Rauch, S. L., Baer, L., Reid, T., et al. (2000). Strategic processing and episodic memory impairment in obsessive compulsive disorder. *Neuropsychology*, 14(1), 141-151.
- Savage, C. R., Keuthen, N. J., Jenike, M. A., Brown, H. D., Baer, L., Kendrick, A. D., et al. (1996). Recall and recognition memory in obsessive-compulsive disorder. J Neuropsychiatry Clin Neurosci, 8(1), 99-103.
- Savage, C. R., & Rauch, S. L. (2000). Cognitive deficits in obsessive-compulsive disorder. *Am J Psychiatry*, 157(7), 1182-1183.
- Saxena, S. (2007). Is compulsive hoarding a genetically and neurobiologically discrete syndrome? Implications for diagnostic classification. *Am J Psychiatry*, *164*(3), 380-384.
- Schlosser, R. G., Wagner, G., Schachtzabel, C., Peikert, G., Koch, K., Reichenbach, J. R., et al. (2010). Fronto-cingulate effective connectivity in obsessive compulsive disorder: a study with fMRI and dynamic causal modeling. [Research Support, Non-U.S. Gov't]. *Human Brain Mapping*, *31*(12), 1834-1850.
- Schwartz, J. M., Stoessel, P. W., Baxter, L. R., Jr., Martin, K. M., & Phelps, M. E. (1996). Systematic changes in cerebral glucose metabolic rate after successful behavior

modification treatment of obsessive-compulsive disorder. *Arch Gen Psychiatry*, 53(2), 109-113.

- Sheehan, D. V., Lecrubier, Y., Sheehan, K. H., Amorim, P., Janavs, J., Weiller, E., et al. (1998).
  The Mini-International Neuropsychiatric Interview (M.I.N.I.): the development and validation of a structured diagnostic psychiatric interview for DSM-IV and ICD-10. *J Clin Psychiatry, 59 Suppl 20*, 22-33; guiz 34-57.
- Sher, K. J., Frost, R. O., Kushner, M., Crews, T. M., & Alexander, J. E. (1989). Memory deficits in compulsive checkers: replication and extension in a clinical sample. *Behav Res Ther*, 27(1), 65-69.
- Spencer, W. D., & Raz, N. (1995). Differential effects of aging on memory for content and context: a meta-analysis. *Psychol Aging*, 10(4), 527-539.
- Steketee, G., & Frost, R. (2003). Compulsive hoarding: current status of the research. *Clin Psychol Rev, 23*(7), 905-927.
- Suzuki, W. A., & Amaral, D. G. (1994). Topographic organization of the reciprocal connections between the monkey entorhinal cortex and the perirhinal and parahippocampal cortices.
  [Research Support, U.S. Gov't, P.H.S.]. *The Journal of neuroscience : the official journal of the Society for Neuroscience, 14*(3 Pt 2), 1856-1877.
- Talairach, J., Tournoux, P. (1988). *Co-planar Steriotaxic Atlas of the Human Brain*. New York:Thieme Meical Publishers, Inc.
- van den Heuvel, O. A., Veltman, D. J., Groenewegen, H. J., Cath, D. C., van Balkom, A. J., van Hartskamp, J., et al. (2005). Frontal-striatal dysfunction during planning in obsessivecompulsive disorder. [Comparative Study

Research Support, Non-U.S. Gov't]. Archives of General Psychiatry, 62(3), 301-309.

- van den Hout, M., & Kindt, M. (2003). Repeated checking causes memory distrust. *Behav Res Ther*, *41*(3), 301-316.
- Veale, D. M., Sahakian, B. J., Owen, A. M., & Marks, I. M. (1996). Specific cognitive deficits in tests sensitive to frontal lobe dysfunction in obsessive-compulsive disorder. *Psychol Med*, 26(6), 1261-1269.
- Voyer, D., Postma, A., Brake, B., & Imperato-McGinley, J. (2007). Gender differences in object location memory: a meta-analysis. [Meta-Analysis
- Research Support, N.I.H., Extramural
- Research Support, Non-U.S. Gov't]. Psychonomic bulletin & review, 14(1), 23-38.
- Wang, B., & Fu, X. (2010). Gender differences in the effects of post-learning emotion on consolidation of item memory and source memory. [Randomized Controlled Trial
- Research Support, Non-U.S. Gov't]. Neurobiology of learning and memory, 93(4), 572-580.
- Zielinski, C. M., Taylor, M. A., & Juzwin, K. R. (1991). Neuropsychological deficits in obsessive-compulsive disorder. *Neuropsychiatry, Neuropsychology and Behavioral Neurology, 4*, 110-116.

# Table 1. Demographics

	OCD Mean (SD)	HC t Mean (SD)		df	р	
Age	25.1 (8.6)	26.7(9.7)	.47	31	.64	
Education	15.1 (1.6)	15.3(1.9)	.28	31	.78	
WASI	119.3(10.1)	120.2(5.0)	.33	21.6	.75	
OCI-R	32.3(13.2)	5.0(8.2)	-7.1	24.8	.0000001	
YBOCS	18.9(3.6)	.89(1.4)	-18.9	19.3	.0000001	
DOCS	24.5(9.8)	2.7(2.9)	-8.5	17.4	.0000001	
BAI	14.2(7.1)	2.6(3.0)	-5.8	19.1	.00001	
BDI	16.6(10.5)	2.7(3.9)	-5.0	18.8	.00009	

Note. WASI= Wechsler Abbreviated Scale of Intelligence; OCI-R=Obsessive Compulsive Inventory Revised Version; YBOCS= Yale Brown Obsessive Compulsive Scale-Self Report Version; DOCS= Dimensional Obsessive Compulsive Scale; BAI= Beck Anxiety Inventory; BDI-II= Beck Depression Inventory-Second Edition

# Table 2. Behavioral Performance

	OCD Mean (SD)	HC Mean (SD)	t	df	р
Target % Accuracy	85.9 (4.5)	82.3(11.9)	1.2	20.7	.26
Distracter % Accuracy	86.1 (11.2)	86.9(8.4)	239	31	.81
Object Discriminability	86.0 (6.0)	84.6 (7.8)	57	31	.57
Target Response Time (ms)	1851(232)	1778(248)	86	31	.40
Distracter Response Time (ms)	2265(434)	2114(273)	-1.18	31	.25
Source % Accuracy	76.3 (22.1)	81.5(14.4)	79	31	.43
Source Reaction Time	1560(355)	1377 (244)	-1.7	31	.10

Table 3. Regions of Significant activation for Random Effects GLM Contrast of Source Hit verses Target Hit, OCD verses HC

	Talairach Coordinates						
Region and Contrast	L/R	Х	Y	Z	Voxels	t	P value
Source Hit vs. Target Hit							
A priori							
Left Medial Prefrontal Cortex	L	-10	46	15	7	3.63	.0010
Premotor cortex/Dorsolateral							
prefrontal cortex	R	32	4	36	12	4.04	.00034
Right Posterior Cingulate Cortex	R	5	-47	24	11	4.02	.00035
Left Posterior Cingulate Cortex	_ L	-13	-44	27	13	4.26	.00018
Post hoc							
Right Parietal Lobe	R	29	-65	39	7	3.45	.0016

# Regions Reaching Significance During GLM Contrasts of OCD > Healthy Control



Figure 1. Object and source memory fMRI paradigm: Participants viewed pictures of objects, which were present in the rooms during encoding (targets) and some that were not (distracters). They were asked to indicate (using a response button) whether each object was old or new, and also for objects that were identified as "old" to indicate the source (which room the object seen in). The order of these responses choices was counterbalanced between participants. A variable length of fixation was viewed between trials. Target and distracter objects were counter balanced across participants.



Figure 2. Comparison of Source Correct verses Target Hits by OCD verses HC groups. Mean percent signal change in the maximally activated voxel for each cluster was extracted and calculated for each condition. Areas of activation were found in the A) left medial PFC (x, y, z = -10, 46, 15), B) right premotor cortex/DLPFC (x, y, z = 32, 4, 36), and C) the right parietal lobe (x, y, z = 29, -65, 39).



Figure 3. Comparison of Source Correct verses Target Hits, OCD verses HC. Mean percent signal change in the maximally activated voxel of each cluster was extracted for each condition. Clusters of activation shown for the bilateral cingulated cortices A) Left Cingulate Cortex (x, y, z = -13, -44, 27), and B) Right Cingulate Cortex (x, y, z = -5, -47, 24).